

COUNCIL ASSESSMENT PANEL General Operating Procedures

Adopted on 28 November 2017.

Table of Contents

1	Purpose	3	
	Timing & Notice of Meetings		
3	Commencement of Meetings & Quorum	4	
4	Appointment of Deputy Elected Member	6	
5	Appointment of Additional Members	6	
6	Decision Making	6	
7	Minutes and Reporting	9	
8	CAP Procedures & Support	11	
Арр	Appendix A12		

These Meeting Procedures are to be read in conjunction with the meeting procedures contained within the Planning, Development and Infrastructure (General) (Assessment Panels) Variation Regulations 2017. (Refer Appendix A).

1 **Purpose**

- 1.1. The purpose of the Council Assessment Panel (CAP) is to determine development applications made under the Planning Development and Infrastructure Act 2016 (or, during the transition to the PDI Act, the Development Act 1993) that are delegated from Council. The Panel may also provide advice to Council on trends, issues and other matters relating to planning or development matters.
- 1.2. The Panel acknowledges that in performing its statutory function, it is bound by the:
 - 1.2.1 Code of conduct adopted by the Minister for Planning.
 - 1.2.2 Objects, Planning Principles and General Responsibilities under the Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act 2016.
 - 1.2.3 Operating Procedures established by the Panel.

2 Timing & Notice of Meetings

Meeting time and place

- 2.1. CAP meetings will be scheduled by the CAP on the fourth Tuesday of the month, or another date as determined by the Presiding Member, subject to there being business to consider.
- 2.2. The CAP will meet in the Council Civic Centre at 12 James Street Salisbury or at such other place as the Presiding Member may determine.

Notice of meeting

- 2.3. The Assessment Manager pursuant to the Planning Development and Infrastructure Act 2016 must provide written notice detailing the date, time and place of a meeting to all CAP members at least three working days before the meeting. The notice shall include the Agenda for the meeting.
- 2.4. Notice of CAP meetings may be given to CAP members by email, to an email address nominated by a CAP Member, or by personal delivery or post to the usual residence of a CAP Member, or via such other means as authorised by a CAP Member.

2.5. A copy of the Agenda for every ordinary meeting of the CAP shall be available for viewing by the public at the Council's offices and on the Council's web site at least three working days before the meeting of the CAP. The three working days notice shall not apply to a special meeting of the CAP under clause 2.6, or to an item included by the Assessment Manager under clause 2.8, in which cases the agenda will be made available for viewing by the public as soon as practicable.

Special meeting

- 2.6. A special meeting of the CAP may be convened by the Presiding Member, at any time, to consider urgent business by giving not less than two working days written notice to all CAP Members.
- 2.7. Notice of a special meeting of the CAP must be accompanied by an Agenda stating the item(s) of business for which the meeting has been convened. A special meeting must only deal with the business for which the meeting has been convened.

Late items

2.8. The Assessment Manager may, with leave or at the request of the Presiding Member, include in the agenda an item to be considered at the meeting to which the agenda relates after notice of the meeting has been given to CAP Members. In such instance, the Assessment Manager shall provide an updated agenda and any documents and/or reports relating to that item to be considered at the meeting to Members as soon as practicable. The Assessment Manager will also make an updated agenda available to the public in accordance with clause 2.5.

3 Commencement of Meetings & Quorum

- 3.1. CAP Meetings will be conducted in accordance with the requirements of the Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act 2016 ('the PDI Act'), Development Act 1993 ('the Act') and these Operating Procedures.
- 3.2. Meetings will commence on time, or as soon as a quorum is present. If a quorum is not present within thirty minutes of the time for commencement, the Presiding Member may adjourn the meeting to the next scheduled meeting time and date, or to another time and date.
- 3.3. A quorum for a meeting of the CAP is three (3) CAP Members.
- 3.4. If the number of apologies received by the Assessment Manager in advance of a meeting indicate that a quorum will not be present at a meeting, the Presiding Member may, by notice from the Assessment Manager, provide to all CAP Members in advance of the meeting, a notice adjourning the meeting to a future time and date as specified in the notice (a copy of this notice will be displayed at the Council Offices and on the Council's website).

3.5. If a meeting is required to be adjourned by the Presiding Member, the reason for the adjournment, and the date and time to which the meeting is adjourned will be recorded in the Minutes.

Deputy Presiding Member

- 3.6. A Deputy Presiding Member of the CAP must be appointed by resolution of the CAP, and will preside at any meeting, or part thereof, when the Presiding Member is not present. [Ms L Caruso was appointed by the Panel on 24 October 2017 for the Term to 31 May 2019]
- 3.7. If both the Presiding Member and Deputy Presiding Member are absent from a CAP meeting (or part thereof), a CAP Member will be appointed from those present by means of resolution, and will preside at the meeting. That member will have all of the powers and duties of the Presiding Member.

Meeting behavior

- 3.8. Subject to the PDI Act and these Operating Procedures, the Presiding Member will facilitate the meeting in a manner which promotes relevant, orderly, constructive, respectful and expeditious discussion, but not repetitious discussion, with the intent of ensuring well-informed decisions and debate leading to a determination of any maters before the Panel.
- 3.9. The Presiding Member may adjourn a meeting in the event of a disruption or disturbance by a CAP Member, an applicant, a representor, or any other person present at the CAP meeting, until such time as the disruption or disturbance ceases.
- 3.10. The Presiding Member may ask a member of the public who is present at a meeting of a CAP to leave the meeting if this person is:
 - 3.10.1 behaving in a disorderly manner; or
 - 3.10.2 causing an interruption.

4 Appointment of Deputy Elected Member

- 4.1. A Deputy Elected Member has been appointed to the CAP in the event the Elected Member on the CAP is not available for a meeting or part meeting.
- 4.2. The Deputy Elected Member will attend when:
 - 4.2.1 The Elected Member notifies the Presiding Member of their unavailability before the meeting; and
 - 4.2.2 The Deputy Elected Member receiving the Agenda for the meeting three days prior to the meeting.
- 4.3. Unless the context otherwise requires, a reference to a Member in these Meeting Procedures includes a Deputy Elected Member.

5 Appointment of Additional Members

- 5.1. The CAP may appoint up to two Additional Members in accordance with Section 85 of the PDI Act.
- 5.2. Where the CAP has appointed Additional Member(s), the Presiding Member, in consultation with the Assessment Manager, may invite one or both Additional Members to attend any meeting (or part thereof) where he or she considers the Additional Member(s) will, by virtue of their qualifications, expertise or experience, assist the CAP in dealing with a matter that it must assess under the PDI Act (or, during the transition to the PDI Act, the Development Act 1993).
- 5.3. A request that an Additional Member attend a meeting must be made in writing and be accompanied by the notice for the meeting in accordance with clause 2.6, highlighting the item(s) the Additional Member is required to consider.
- 5.4. Unless the context otherwise requires, a reference to a Member in these Meeting Procedures includes an Additional Member, save that an Additional Member is not able to vote on any matter arising for determination by the CAP.

6 Decision Making

6.1. The CAP will conduct its meetings, and undertake all considerations, in accordance with the PDI Act (or, during the transition to the PDI Act, the Development Act).

Public meetings

6.2. Subject to circumstances where it excludes the public from attendance at a meeting or part thereof pursuant to Part 13 of the Development, Infrastructure (General) (Assessment Panels) Variation Regulations 2017, the Panel will generally discuss and determine applications for Development Plan Consent in public.

- 6.3. The Presiding Member will invite all Panel members to speak on any matter before the Panel prior to calling for a motion.
- 6.4. Subject to a CAP Member not having a direct or indirect personal or pecuniary interest in a matter before the CAP (other than an indirect interest that exists in common with a substantial class of persons), each CAP Member present at a meeting of the CAP must vote on a question arising for decision.

Decisions by consensus

6.5. Decisions of the Panel will be where possible by consensus determined through debate and discussion of the agenda item, and where a consensus is reached the Presiding Member shall then call for a mover and confirm the consensus by a show of hands.

Decisions by vote

- 6.6. Where it is evident through debate and discussion that a consensus will not be reached by the Panel, the Presiding Member shall call for a mover and put the matter to a formal vote to determine.
- 6.7. Each CAP Member present at a meeting is entitled to one vote on any matter arising for decision and, if the votes are equal, the Member Presiding at the meeting is entitled to a second or casting vote.
- 6.8. All decisions of the CAP shall be made on the basis of a majority decision of the Members present and the Minutes shall record that decision only (Votes for/against will not be recorded, and are not relevant once the majority is determined).

CAP considerations

6.9. The CAP must use the Development Plan or Planning and Design Code (as may be relevant to the particular application under consideration), referred to hereafter as the Planning Rules, as the basis for its decisions, having had regard to any relevant written and verbal representations made in accordance with the provisions of the Act, or any other relevant legislation.

Seriously at variance

- 6.10. The CAP will, for each and every application, determine whether the proposal is seriously at variance with the Planning Rules, and expressly record its determination on this matter in the Minutes. If the CAP determines that the proposal is seriously at variance with the Planning Rules, the CAP must provide reasons for its determination, and must expressly record those reasons in the Minutes.
- 6.11. A development application that is assessed by the CAP as being seriously at variance with the Planning Rules will be refused.

Reasons for decision

6.12. The CAP must, for each and every application, provide reasons for granting or refusing Planning Rules Consent, and for the imposition of any conditions, and express or record those reasons in the Minutes.

Representations

- 6.13. Subject to the Act, a person who has lodged a valid representation in relation to a Category 2 or 3 development application, and has indicated their desire to be heard on their representation, is entitled to appear before the CAP and be heard in support of their representation, in person or by an agent.
- 6.14. The Presiding Member may in his or her discretion exclude:
 - 6.14.1 a representation or response to representation(s) which is received out of time; or
 - 6.14.2 a representation or response to representation(s) which is otherwise invalid.

Speaking time

6.15. Applicants and Representors will be allowed five minutes to address the CAP, unless a longer time is allowed by the Presiding Member. Where a person is nominated in a representation or by notice of the representors as representing three or more representors (including themselves) the Presiding Member may allow a longer time to address the Panel. Where an applicant is responding to a significant number of representations or a significant number of issues raised in representations, the Presiding Member may allow a longer time to address the Panel.

Hearing applicants

- 6.16. Should there be no Representor wishing to be heard for a non-complying development application, Category 2 or Category 3 development application, and the recommendation is for a refusal, the Applicant will be entitled to appear before the CAP and be heard in support of the application. Applicants will be allowed five minutes to address the CAP, unless a longer time is allowed by the Presiding Member.
- 6.17. Should there be no Representor wishing to be heard for a non-complying development application, Category 2 or Category 3 development application, and the recommendation is for approval, the Presiding Member may allow the Applicant to address the Panel to seek clarification and/or further information that may be required by the Panel in order to determine the application.

6.18. At the discretion of the Presiding Member, any new or additional material to be submitted to the CAP by a person who has made a development application or a valid representation in relation to a matter may be accepted and considered by the CAP. A copy of any additional material accepted shall be provided to the applicant or representors by the party presenting the additional material.

Member's participation

6.19. A CAP Member may ask questions of any person appearing before the CAP. Subject to the Presiding Member's determination, all questions shall be relevant to the subject of the development application before the panel.

7 Minutes and Reporting

- 7.1. The Assessment Manager is responsible for ensuring that accurate Minutes are kept of Panel meetings and that they are confirmed by the Panel and signed by the Presiding Member.
- 7.2. The Minutes of the proceedings of a CAP meeting will record:
 - 7.2.1 the names of the CAP Members present;
 - 7.2.2 the names of all CAP Members from whom apologies have been received;
 - 7.2.3 the name and time that a CAP Member enters or leaves the meeting;
 - 7.2.4 the name of a person who has made a representation to the CAP at the meeting;
 - 7.2.5 the decision of the CAP, including the express opinion of the CAP on whether the proposed development is seriously at variance with the Planning Rules (including reasons as appropriate);
 - 7.2.6 reasons for granting or refusing Planning Rules Consent, and for the imposition of any conditions on a Planning Rules Consent;
 - 7.2.7 in the absence of a decision, the deferral of the application including the reasons for the deferral;
 - 7.2.8 any disclosure of a conflict of interest made by a Member pursuant to the Code of Conduct adopted by the Minister under Clause 1(1)(c) of Schedule 3 of the Act (Code of Conduct), and the nature of the Interest;

- 7.2.9 a decision to exclude public attendance; and
- 7.2.10 a notation, describing the confidential nature of the information and matter, in the event a matter has been excluded from the Minutes.
- 7.3. Minutes shall be read and adopted by the CAP at the end of the meeting.
- 7.4. On the adoption of the Minutes, the Assessment Manager will forward the Minutes to the Presiding Member who will confirm the Minutes by electronic communication.
- 7.5. The Minutes of a CAP meeting must be forwarded to the Council and must be publicly available within two business days after their confirmation by the CAP.

Annual report

- 7.6. The Panel shall prepare and consider an Annual Report for presentation to the Council via the appropriate Standing Committee. The Annual Report may be presented by the Presiding Member and may contain (but not be limited to) statistical information in relation to the number of items considered, the outcomes of decisions on those items, and matters identified by the Panel in the course of its assessment of development applications that warrant referral to Council for consideration of Planning Rules policy, legislative, or procedural change.
- 7.7. The Annual Report shall be presented to Council on or around the anniversary date of the appointment of the Panel, subject to Council meeting timing.

8 CAP Procedures & Support

Additional procedures

8.1. Insofar as the Act and these Operating Procedures do not prescribe the procedure to be followed at a CAP meeting, the CAP may determine the procedure at the time. Any such determination may be added to these Operating Procedures.

Staff Participation

8.2. The CAP will permit and encourage the active participation of Council staff in attendance at a meeting in providing advice to the CAP.

Assistance

8.3. The CAP may call for and consider such professional assistance from Council staff and other professional advisors as it deems necessary and appropriate.

Electronic communication

- 8.4. For the purpose of facilitating constructive debate on a development application under consideration by CAP, electronic communication or other telecommunication devices may be acceptable delivery method, at the discretion of the Presiding Member, for the purpose of conducting the meeting and hearing verbal representation from a person, or their representative, in support of their representation concerning a development application, and providing the applicant, or their representative, the opportunity to verbally respond to any relevant matter. Should electronic communication or other telecommunication devices be utilised they should ensure fair and equitable communication to all attendees to the CAP meeting.
- 8.5. Should electronic communication or other telecommunication devices be utilised for the conduct of a CAP meeting, all voting shall be conducted on the voices, with the Presiding Member verbally acknowledging each individual vote before declaring the outcome of the vote, and noted in the minutes of the meeting, consistent with *Part 6: Decision Making* of the Operating Procedures.
- 8.6. Should electronic communication or other telecommunication devices be utilised for the conduct of a CAP meeting, the Presiding Member and the Assessment Manager shall be present at the meeting place as nominated in the CAP Agenda for that meeting.

Appendix A

No 209 of 2017 published in Gazette 1.8.2017 p 3051

South Australia

Planning, Development and Infrastructure (General) (Assessment Panels) Variation Regulations 2017

under the Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act 2016

Contents

Part 1—Preliminary

- 1 Short title
- 2 Commencement
- 3 Variation provisions

Part 2—Variation of *Planning*, *Development and Infrastructure (General)* Regulations 2017

4	Substitution of heading to Part 2
	Part 2—Administration and structural matters
5 6	Variation of regulation 8—Disclosure of financial interests Insertion of regulation 11
0	11 Compliance with code of conduct—assessment panels
7	Insertion of Part 3
	Part 3—Assessment panels—procedures
	12 Application
	13 Public access to meetings
	14 Minutes and other documents
	15 Quorum
	16 Voting

- 17 Validity of proceedings
- 18 Other matters

Part 1—Preliminary

1—Short title

These regulations may be cited as the *Planning*, *Development and Infrastructure* (*General*) (Assessment Panels) Variation Regulations 2017.

2—Commencement

These regulations will come into operation on 1 October 2017.

3—Variation provisions

In these regulations, a provision under a heading referring to the variation of specified regulations varies the regulations so specified.

Part 2—Variation of *Planning*, *Development and Infrastructure* (General) Regulations 2017

4—Substitution of heading to Part 2

Heading to Part 2—delete the heading and substitute:

Part 2—Administration and structural matters

5—Variation of regulation 8—Disclosure of financial interests

Regulation 8—after subregulation (12) insert:

(13) For the purposes of paragraph (b) of the definition of *relevant* official in clause 1(1) of Schedule 1 of the Act in relation to an assessment panel appointed by a council, the chief executive officer of the council is prescribed as the relevant official.

6—Insertion of regulation 11

After regulation 10 insert:

11—Compliance with code of conduct—assessment panels

(1) In this regulation—

code of conduct means the code of conduct to be observed by members of an assessment panel adopted by the Minister under clause 1(1)(c) of Schedule 3 of the Act.

- (2) A person may make a complaint to the Commission if the person believes that a member of an assessment panel has acted in contravention of the code of conduct.
- (3) A complaint must—
 - (a) be in writing; and
 - (b) contain particulars of the allegation on which the complaint is based; and
 - (c) be verified by statutory declaration.
- (4) Except with the approval of the Commission, a complaint must not be lodged with the Commission more than 6 months after the day on which the complainant first had notice of the matters alleged in the complaint.
- (5) The Commission may require the complainant to give further particulars of the complaint (verified, if the Commission so requires, by statutory declaration).
- (6) The Commission may refuse to entertain a complaint or, having accepted a complaint for investigation, may refuse to continue to entertain a complaint, if it appears to the Commission—
 - (a) that the complainant does not have a sufficient interest in the matter to which the complaint relates; or

- (b) that the matter raised by the complaint is trivial; or
- (c) that the complaint is frivolous or vexatious or is not made in good faith; or
- (d) that there is some other good reason not to proceed (or further proceed) with the matter under this regulation.
- (7) The Commission may, as the Commission's first step in dealing with a complaint, refer the matter to the member of the assessment panel to whom the complaint relates for a response.
- (8) The Commission may take such further action as the Commission thinks fit (including deciding not to proceed further with the matter).
- (9) The Commission may, whether or not the Commission has acted under subregulation (7), appoint a person to investigate a complaint.
- (10) If the Commission appoints an investigator—
 - (a) the Commission must inform the member of the assessment panel to whom the complaint relates of the appointment of an investigator and furnish formal notification of the nature of the complaint; and
 - (b) the investigator must conduct an investigation into the complaint as soon as practicable after the appointment has been made; and
 - (c) the investigator must give the member of the assessment panel to whom the complaint relates a reasonable opportunity to make representations to the investigator about the complaint; and
 - (d) the investigator may require—
 - (i) the complainant; and
 - (ii) the member of the assessment panel to whom the complaint relates,

to provide to the investigator any document or other information relevant to the investigation of the complaint (verified, if the investigator so requires, by statutory declaration); and

- (e) the investigator—
 - (i) must otherwise comply with the rules of natural justice; and
 - (ii) subject to subparagraph (i), may conduct the investigation in such a manner as the investigator thinks fit (including by undertaking such other consultations and undertaking such other inquiries as the investigator thinks fit).

- (11) If during an investigation the investigator is satisfied that there is a matter about which another complaint could have been made against the member of the assessment panel, the investigator may, after consultation with the Commission, deal with the matter as if a complaint had been made about the matter.
- (12) The investigator—
 - (a) may report to the Commission at any stage of the investigation; and
 - (b) must present a report to the Commission at the conclusion of the investigation.
- (13) The Commission must provide the person to whom the complaint relates with a copy of a report presented under subregulation (12)(b) (and the Commission may, if the Commission thinks fit, invite a response from the person).
- (14) The Commission may, on the receipt of a report under subregulation (12)(b), or at the conclusion of any process that the Commission has adopted in the alternative—
 - (a) decide to take no further action on the complaint; or
 - (b) undertake any consultation or further inquiry as the Commission thinks fit; or
 - (c) take action to have the member of the assessment panel to whom the complaint relates removed from office; or
 - (d) take such other action as the Commission thinks fit.
- (15) The Commission must inform the complainant of the outcome of a complaint under subregulation (14).
- (16) Without limiting a preceding subregulation, the Commission may, at any time, consult with or provide a report to—
 - (a) the Minister; and
 - (b) in the case of a complaint that relates to a member of an assessment panel appointed by a joint planning board or a council, the joint planning board or the council (as the case requires),

about a complaint that has been made under this regulation.

(17) Nothing in this regulation limits or restricts any action or proceedings that may be taken against or in relation to a member of an assessment panel on account of the member being an accredited professional under the Act.

7—Insertion of Part 3

After Part 2 insert:

Part 3—Assessment panels—procedures

12—Application

This Part applies to and in relation to the procedures of an assessment panel established under section 83 of the Act or clause 12 or 13 of Schedule 8 of the Act.

13—Public access to meetings

- (1) In connection with the conduct of the proceedings of an assessment panel, members of the public are entitled to attend a meeting of the panel other than as set out in subregulation (2).
- (2) An assessment panel may exclude the public from attendance at a meeting—
 - (a) during so much of the meeting as is necessary to receive, discuss or consider in confidence any of the following matters:
 - (i) information the disclosure of which would involve the unreasonable disclosure of information concerning the personal affairs of any person (living or dead);
 - (ii) information the disclosure of which-
 - (A) could unreasonably be expected to confer a commercial advantage on a person, or to prejudice the commercial position of a person; and
 - (B) would, on balance, be contrary to the public interest;
 - (iii) information the disclosure of which would reveal a trade secret;
 - (iv) commercial information of a confidential nature (not being a trade secret) the disclosure of which—
 - (A) could reasonably be expected to prejudice the commercial position of the person who supplied the information, or to confer a commercial advantage on a third party; and
 - (B) would, on balance, be contrary to the public interest;
 - (v) matters affecting the safety or security of any person or property;

 (vi) information the disclosure of which could reasonably be expected to prejudice the maintenance of law, including by affecting (or potentially affecting) the prevention, detection or investigation of a criminal offence, or the right to a fair trial;

(vii) matters that should be considered in confidence in order to ensure that the assessment panel, or any other entity, does not breach any law, or any order or direction of a court or tribunal constituted by law, any duty of confidence, or other legal obligation or duty;

(viii) legal advice;

- (ix) information relating to actual litigation, or litigation that the assessment panel believes on reasonable grounds will take place;
 - (x) information the disclosure of which—
 - (A) would divulge information provided on a confidential basis by or to a Minister of the Crown, the Commission, or another public authority or official; and
 - (B) would, on balance, be contrary to the public interest; and
- (b) during so much of the meeting that consists of its discussion or determination of any application or other matter that falls to be determined by the assessment panel.

14—Minutes and other documents

- (1) An assessment panel must ensure that accurate minutes are kept of its proceedings.
- (2) A disclosure by a member of an assessment panel of a direct or indirect pecuniary interest in any aspect of a development or any body associated with any aspect of a development required under the Act must be recorded in the minutes of the assessment panel.
- (3) Members of the public are entitled to reasonable access to—
 - (a) the agendas for meetings of an assessment panel; and
 - (b) the minutes of meetings of an assessment panel.
- (4) However, an assessment panel may, before it releases a copy of any minutes under subregulation (3), exclude from the minutes information about any matter dealt with on a confidential basis by the assessment panel.
- (5) Minutes must be available under subregulation (3) within 5 business days after their adoption by the members of the assessment panel.

15—Quorum

A quorum at a meeting of an assessment panel is a number obtained by dividing the total number of members of the assessment panel for the time being in office by 2, ignoring any fraction resulting from the division, and adding 1.

16—Voting

- (1) Each member of an assessment panel present at a meeting of the assessment panel is entitled to 1 vote on a matter arising for decision and, if the votes are equal, the member presiding at the meeting is entitled to a second or casting vote.
- (2) Subregulation (1) does not apply to a person who is taken to be a member of an assessment panel under section 85 of the Act.

17—Validity of proceedings

A proceeding of an assessment panel (and any decision made by an assessment panel) is not invalid by reason only of a vacancy in its membership or a defect in the appointment of a member.

18—Other matters

Except insofar as a procedure is not prescribed by the Act or these regulations, the procedures of an assessment panel in relation to the conduct of its business will be as determined by the assessment panel (and an assessment panel is accordingly a specified body for the purposes of section 246(6)(d) of the Act).

Note—

As required by section 10AA(2) of the *Subordinate Legislation Act 1978*, the Minister has certified that, in the Minister's opinion, it is necessary or appropriate that these regulations come into operation as set out in these regulations.

Made by the Governor

with the advice and consent of the Executive Council on 1 August 2017

No 209 of 2017

PLN0019/17CS